



400-65 ST. CLAIR AVE. EAST TORONTO, ON M4T 2Y8

> T. 416.925.2493 1.800.268.7230 catholicteachers.ca

OECTA SUBMISSION TO THE ONTARIO POVERTY REDUCTION STRATEGY CONSULTATION

TO THE MINISTRY OF CHILDREN, COMMUNITY AND SOCIAL SERVICES

April 2020



The Ontario English Catholic Teachers' Association (OECTA) represents the 45,000 passionate and qualified teachers in Ontario's publicly funded English Catholic schools, from Kindergarten to Grade 12.

Liz Stuart President David Church General Secretary

Ontario English Catholic Teachers' Association 65 St. Clair Avenue East, Suite 400 Toronto, ON M4T 2Y8 416.925.2493 or 1.800.268.7230 Fax: 416.925.7764 catholicteachers.ca

April 2020

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	INTRODUCTION1
2.	EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION AND CARE
3.	QUALITY PUBLICLY FUNDED EDUCATION
4.	ACCESS TO POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION
5.	DECENT WORK AND WORKING CONDITIONS
6.	LABOUR RIGHTS 6
7.	MINIMUM WAGES 7
8.	BASIC INCOME PILOT 8
9.	SOCIAL ASSISTANCE
10.	CONCLUSION10
11.	WORKS CITED10

1. INTRODUCTION

- **1.01** The Ontario English Catholic Teachers' Association (OECTA) welcomes the opportunity to provide input in the development of a new Poverty Reduction Strategy for Ontario.
- **1.02** This is an especially important time to be discussing poverty reduction, as Ontario is currently grappling with the crisis caused by COVID-19. While the government has put in place a number of emergency measures, this extraordinary situation is magnifying the hardships faced by millions of Ontarians every day. The health and well-being of our family, friends, and neighbours should not be left vulnerable to health emergencies, natural disasters, or the whims of the market. The fundamental goal of any government, of any political stripe, should be to ensure that all Ontarians are able to live with an adequate measure of dignity and stability.
- **1.03** Ontario's Catholic teachers view issues of poverty and inequality primarily through the eyes of our students and their families. Evidence indicates that the targeted poverty reduction efforts Ontario has implemented since 2008 have been effective, but need to be bolstered. While the rate of child poverty has been reduced, almost one in five children in Ontario, and one in seven families with children, still live in poverty (Mustachi 2017). These families are forced to make difficult decisions about how or whether to access necessities like housing, energy, child care, transportation, or food.
- 1.04 Teachers see the effects in our classrooms every day, as students arrive at school tired, hungry, anxious, and unprepared. We meet parents and guardians who are struggling with precarious work or inadequate social assistance. Research shows that children from low-income families often start school already behind their peers, because these families often have limited time and resources to provide their children with early learning opportunities (Ferguson, Bovaird, and Mueller 2007). Some research even indicates that the stresses of poverty can change a child's brain structure (Proudfoot 2020).
- 1.05 The consequences of poverty go beyond the individuals and families directly affected by it. Recent research shows that increased costs for the justice and health care systems, lost economic opportunity, and forgone tax revenues cost Ontario as much as \$33 million per year (Lee and Briggs 2019). It is imperative that whenever we

emerge from the COVID-19 crisis, the government continues to recognize the necessity of public programs and services to protect all Ontarians.

2. EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION AND CARE

- **2.01** The government has expressed an interest in relieving cost pressures on low-income Ontarians. Presumably, this means reducing consumer prices and providing further tax relief. But the most important role for any government is to provide affordable, accessible, high-quality public services. As Catholic teachers and many other advocates have been saying for years, this should include a universal, publicly funded system of early childhood education and care (ECEC).
- **2.02** Affordable, accessible, high quality ECEC increases equity in learning outcomes, reduces poverty, and creates a strong foundation for lifelong learning (McCuaig, Bertrand, and Shanker 2012). It also improves labour force participation, particularly among women, and helps to boost household incomes. These benefits are shared by society and the economy as a whole. According to one analysis, every dollar the public spends expanding enrolment in ECEC yields close to six dollars in economic benefits, thanks to increased economic productivity and lower social costs (Alexander et al. 2017).
- **2.03** Quebec's child care model, which has now been in place for more than 20 years, offers ample evidence of the tremendous benefits and cost-effectiveness of this type of program. The government spends roughly 0.6 per cent of GDP on the program, which is equal to the average spending among advanced economies for early childhood education and care. In return, the labour force participation rate of women in Quebec has increased to 85 per cent, compared to 80 per cent elsewhere in Canada. The rate for mothers of children up to age five has increased to 80 per cent, compared to 71 per cent elsewhere in Canada. Furthermore, using 2008 data, it has been calculated that the total increase in revenue exceeded the total increase in expenditure by \$919 million (Fortin 2018).
- **2.04** Unfortunately, the Ford government's ideological opposition to public services has put an abrupt end to the progress Ontario had been making toward a more robust child care system. The government has removed the cap on provincial funding for private child care, and cut funding for fee subsidies for low-income families. This runs counter to all of the available evidence about the high cost of child care, and

the importance of supporting licensed, not-for-profit options as the best way of ensuring accessible, high quality care (Cleveland 2018; Mahoney 2018; Macdonald and Friendly 2017). The government also loosened regulations on carer-to-child ratios in unlicensed child care spaces, just a short time after these regulations were enhanced in response to tragic deaths (Reddekopp 2018).

- 2.05 There are currently licensed child care spaces for just over 20 per cent of children under the age of 12 (Friendly et al. 2018). And in many cases, child care workers and early childhood educators work for low wages in poor conditions (AECEO 2017; Halfon and Langford 2015). The government's tax credit will only exacerbate these problems. Despite the fact that it will cost roughly \$70 million more per year than the government projected, it is unlikely to help low-income recipients, as only 0.1 per cent of families will be eligible for the full credit (FAO 2019a). With the value of the credit being significantly lower than the actual cost of child care, many parents may be forced to opt for lower-cost, lower-quality care, which will cost all Ontarians more in the long run (Cleveland 2019; Monsebraaten 2018a).
- **2.06** Despite the Ford government's ideological opposition, it is indisputable that introducing an affordable, high quality, publicly funded, and universally accessible system of child care would be one of the most effective, tangible things we could do to combat poverty and inequality.

3. QUALITY PUBLICLY FUNDED EDUCATION

- **3.01** In recognition of the importance of publicly funded education for creating opportunities for everyone to realize their full potential, the current Poverty Reduction Strategy includes measures of student readiness and attainment, including the five-year graduation rate, which is now 87.1 per cent, almost 20 percentage points higher than in 2003-04. This is a result of 15 years of increased investments in publicly funded education, which helped Ontario become a national and international leader in student achievement, equity, and inclusiveness (CMEC 2019; Schleicher 2019).
- **3.02** Still, too many students in Ontario cannot access the services and supports they need. Our publicly funded education system needs further investments to give everyone a fair chance. Unfortunately, although the Ford government has repeatedly claimed it is making unprecedented investments, the truth is that the core per-pupil

funding grant for elementary and secondary education has been cut by more the \$600 million. Furthermore, the government's own documents show that the plan is to essentially freeze education spending over the next four years, which means that as costs inflate and enrolment rises, government funding will be increasingly inadequate (Ministry of Finance 2019). According to calculations by the independent Financial Accountability Office (2019b), by the end of its term, the Ford government plans to be underfunding core elementary and secondary education costs by more than \$1 billion.

3.03 Special education, mental health services, adult and continuing education, and services for English language learners are just some of the investments that are needed to make publicly funded education in Ontario a robust poverty-fighting service (OECTA 2020). The government should plan genuine increases in spending on publicly funded education, to give every student in Ontario viable pathways to work or post-secondary education.

4. ACCESS TO POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION

- **4.01** Ontario has a successful and internationally respected system of post-secondary education. Over the past two decades, access to Ontario post-secondary institutions has expanded dramatically, with full-time enrolment nearly doubling (Statistics Canada 2020). Internationally, Canada ranks second among OECD countries in post-secondary educational attainment, and Ontario is tops in the country (OECD 2019; Statistics Canada 2019). Twenty-five per cent of Ontarians aged 25 to 64 have attained a college qualification, 34 per cent hold a university degree, and six per cent have a certificate or diploma from a vocational school or apprenticeship training program (Statistics Canada 2020).
- **4.02** The benefits of post-secondary education are well established. On average, 25- to 34-year-olds with post-secondary education qualifications earn 38 per cent more than their peers who do not hold such credentials, while 45- to 54-year-olds earn 70 per cent more (OECD 2019). Individuals with post-secondary qualifications also benefit from greater relative employment stability and increased access to pension plan coverage (Frenette 2019; ESDC 2015).
- **4.04** Unfortunately, Ontarians do not share equally in these advantages. Research has shown that students from low-income families are considerably less likely to enrol in

post-secondary education than are their peers from higher income categories (Deller 2019; Frenette 2007). A 2017 study found that while nearly 80 per cent of 19-yearolds from families in the top after-tax income quintile enrol in post-secondary education programs, the enrolment rate for those in the bottom income quintile is only 47 percent (Frenette 2017).

- **4.05** Access to post-secondary education should always be a public policy goal, but it can have a particular impact as part of a poverty reduction strategy. The higher wages associated with post-secondary qualifications can, over the long term, reduce the number of adults living in poverty, which in turn lessens the need for interventions associated with health and well-being. Expanding access to post-secondary education could also increase labour force participation in particular fields, such as the skilled trades, and work toward mitigating the so-called "skills mismatch."
- **4.06** To accomplish these objectives, the government should provide additional funding in the form of targeted grants, which would ensure that students from lower-income families have more equitable access to post-secondary education. The government might also consider reinstating changes it made to the Ontario Student Assistance Program (OSAP). The previous government's decision to repackage existing financial assistance grants into one, up-front grant made it easier for students and parents to understand the funding to which they were entitled. Over time, this could have led to greater numbers of lower-income students attending, and benefiting from, post-secondary education. By cancelling the program after one year, on the basis that costs outstripped enrolment increases (Auditor General 2018), the government cut short an opportunity to reap longer-term economic and social benefits.

5. DECENT WORK AND WORKING CONDITIONS

- **5.01** The *Fair Workplaces, Better Jobs Act*, introduced by the previous government in 2017, was a major step forward for Ontario workers. Following a comprehensive review, including input from a variety of labour organizations, worker advocates, community groups, and business interests, the government introduced crucial new labour standards in areas such as scheduling, equal pay, and paid sick leave.
- **5.02** The changes to employment and labour relations standards were made in recognition of the changing nature of the economy and the labour market in Ontario. We have developed a low-wage, precarious economy, in which a large proportion of workers

receive wages below the cost of living, and work in part-time, temporary, or contract positions. Workers have irregular hours, limited rights, and they are unlikely to qualify for benefits, pensions, or other features of stable, full-time employment (Lewchuk et al. 2015). Recent research has even found that more than 20 per cent of highly skilled professionals, such as those in business, law, and health care, are precariously employed (Hennessy and Tranjan 2018). As the Workers' Action Centre put it in their submission to the Changing Workplaces Review, "Changes in labour market regulation and practices have realigned the distribution of risks, costs, benefits, and power between employers and employees" (Gellatly 2015).

- **5.03** Unfortunately, as part of its practice of dismantling any progress that had been made for Ontarians under the previous government, the Ford government moved quickly to repeal most of the hard-won worker protections. While the government claimed the move would help make Ontario "open for business," it was really a direct attack on the well-being of low-wage, precariously employed workers.
- **5.04** The COVID-19 pandemic has served to drive home the consequences of poor labour protections. Initially, the lack of paid sick leave had Ontarians worried and confused about how to balance public safety with their legal rights and obligations. Meanwhile, lack of income, savings, or wealth has left millions of Ontarians vulnerable to business closures and economic shocks. While the government has taken emergency measures, and has reinstated several of the provisions that were scrapped when the *Fair Workplaces, Better Jobs Act* was repealed, this situation has underscored the need for comprehensive, permanent laws to protect workers, their families, and all Ontarians. The government should immediately repeal Bill 47 and reinstate the employment and labour relations standards that were implemented under the previous government.

6. LABOUR RIGHTS

6.01 The Ford government has demonstrated a troubling disregard for organized labour and the collective bargaining process. This has included intervening to end or prevent strike action, making it easier for public sector organizations to hire non-union employees, and reforming arbitration processes. In June 2019, the government introduced Bill 124, the *Protecting a Sustainable Public Sector for Future Generations Act*. The legislation, which imposes a wage cap on public sector compensation increases, is a clear violation of Ontarians' constitutional rights to

engage in unrestricted collective bargaining activity, which is guaranteed by the *Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms*. The legislation is now the subject of multiple constitutional challenges, including from OECTA.

6.02 The government's willingness to impose unconstitutional legislation that tramples workers' rights should concern all Ontarians. There is a popular misconception that unions are bad for business, but evidence from Canada and around the world shows that in reality, organized labour reduces inequality and improves economic performance (Jaumotte and Buitron 2015; Fortin et al. 2012). Furthermore, the Supreme Court of Canada has affirmed the rights to unionize (Fine 2015a), to bargain collectively (Zussman 2016), and to strike (Fine 2015b). Moving forward, the government must show due respect for workers' rights, organized labour, and the collective bargaining process.

7. MINIMUM WAGES

- **7.01** The concept of the minimum wage as a tool to reduce poverty is the subject of fierce debate. Specifically, there are concerns that higher wages lead to increased consumer prices and reduced employment opportunities, which hurts the economy and low-income earners overall. However, as a group of respected economists put it when Ontario's minimum wage increases were being implemented in 2017, "careful studies find that recent minimum wage increases are boosting spending power for low-income workers and reducing inequality" (Osberg et al. 2017).
- **7.02** The decision to increase Ontario's minimum wage in 2017 was based on evidence showing that roughly a third of Ontario's labour force was working for less than \$15 per hour. While the stereotype tends to be that these are mostly young people, or that they are working for small businesses that cannot afford to increase costs, in reality the vast majority of minimum wage workers are over the age of 20, and most work for large companies with more than 500 employees (Macdonald 2017). As Erendira Bravo, a worker and social justice organizer, put it: "A \$15 minimum wage will not afford me a life of luxury, but it will reduce the pressure on me to juggle multiple jobs, give me some much-needed breathing room and a bit more time to spend with my family. We have already waited far too long for government to end sub-poverty wages" (OFL 2017).

- 7.03 When the Ford government took office, the Premier and other members of Cabinet claimed improved wages and labour standards were reducing employment opportunities. However, independent analysis found no indication that the minimum wage increase was causing widespread job loss or economic damage (Crawley 2018a; Herrera 2018). Still, the government cancelled the planned increase to \$15 per hour and replaced it with a tax credit for low-income Ontarians, despite the fact that a wage increase would have made recipients better off (Crawley 2018b).
- **7.04** Making shortsighted decisions to satisfy chambers of commerce or other friends in the business community is no way to develop policy. The government should look at the evidence, and the impact on the lives of working people, and immediately increase the minimum wage to \$15 per hour.

8. BASIC INCOME PILOT

- **8.01** Although there are legitimate philosophical and practical questions about its efficacy, feasibility, or adequacy, basic income is a promising public policy measure for alleviating poverty in the short term, and managing public resources over the long term (Himelfarb and Hennessy 2016). This is why the previous government implemented a groundbreaking pilot program, to study the effects of a basic income in a variety of communities, over an extended period of time.
- 8.02 Despite an explicit campaign promise to continue with the project, the Ford government abruptly cancelled the Ontario Basic Income Pilot. This not only denied researchers in Ontario and around the world the ability to study the program (Monsebraaten 2018b), it betrayed the trust and harmed the well-being of the people and communities who were participating in the project (Ingram 2018).
- **8.03** Despite the research limitations, a recent study of Ontario's program has shown the potential of a basic income for improving health and well-being. Everyone who participated in the study reported having benefitted in some way, and for a significant number, basic income proved to be "transformational, fundamentally reshaping their living standards as well as their sense of self-worth and hope for a better future." The majority reported better physical and mental health, better living conditions, and improved family relationships. And contrary to conservative skepticism that a basic income might undermine the labour market, almost three-

quarters of those who were employed six months before receiving basic income were still working while receiving basic income (Ferdosi et al. 2020).

8.04 The government should immediately reinstate the Basic Income Pilot, so we can fully explore the effects of this policy, and determine its potential as part of a long-term strategy to reduce poverty and inequality in Ontario.

9. SOCIAL ASSISTANCE

- **9.01** Social assistance is the primary source of income for 6.7 per cent of Ontarians, and an integral transitional benefit for many more. But low benefit rates and strict program rules mean that despite the billions of dollars spent every year, the program does little to improve the lives of most recipients. In fact, the poverty gap the distance between the poverty line and the total benefit from Ontario Works or the Ontario Disability Support Program has worsened over time (Tiessen 2016). For years, there have been calls to fundamentally transform the system (Zon and Granofsky 2019; Lankin and Sheikh 2012).
- 9.02 The previous government introduced modest improvements, but the Ford government quickly proposed to undo them (Ferguson and Monsebraaten 2018). Lisa MacLeod, who was Minister of Children, Community and Social Services for the Ford government at the time of the announcement, claimed the new rules would be "compassionate." But to most Ontarians, it was clear that the real focus was eliminating more than \$1 billion in public spending. And while the government said the reforms were necessary to encourage Ontarians to enter or re-enter the labour market, advocates said the new rules would actually benefit those who worked less, and penalize those who worked more (ISARC 2018).
- **9.03** In October 2019, following outcry from advocates and municipalities, the government announced it would be reversing some of its cuts. However, there is still a great deal of uncertainty about the government's policies moving forward (Monsebraaten 2019a; Monsebraaten 2019b). A long-term solution is urgently needed. In 2018, an open letter from nearly 100 organizations urged the government to consider five principles for social assistance reform: income adequacy; economic and social inclusion; access and dignity; reconciliation with Indigenous peoples, and human rights, equity, and fairness (ISAC 2018). These are worthy goals that Catholic teachers strongly urge the government take seriously.

10. CONCLUSION

- **10.01** On March 23, while announcing \$200 million in social services relief in response to the outbreak of COVID-19, Premier Doug Ford said the government "will spare no expense to protect the health and safety of all Ontarians. We are doing our part to show the Ontario spirit and make sure no one gets left behind." This is a laudable attitude, but it should not take a public health emergency to bring it about. No matter the time or circumstances, our fundamental goal as a society should be to alleviate suffering and improve quality of life for all Ontarians.
- **10.02** The issues raised in this submission are just some of the elements of a robust poverty reduction strategy. No doubt the government will also receive detailed suggestions about health care, affordable housing, public transportation, and food security, to name a few. We hope the government will give these recommendations genuine consideration, and use the lessons learned from the COVID-19 crisis to guide longer term planning. Most importantly, the Ford government must finally abandon the misguided notion that Ontarians can do more with less.

11. Works Cited

Alexander, Craig, Kip Beckman, Alicia Macdonald, Cory Renner, and Matthew Stewart. (2017). *Ready for Life: A Socio-Economic Analysis of Early Childhood Education and Care*. Ottawa: Conference Board of Canada.

Association of Early Childhood Educators Ontario (AECEO). (2017). *Association of Early Childhood Educators Ontario Submission to the Gender Wage Gap Strategy Steering Committee*. Toronto: AECEO.

Cleveland, Gordon. (2018). *Affordable for All: Making Licensed Child Care Affordable in Ontario*. Toronto: Cleveland Consulting.

Council of Ministers of Education, Canada (CMEC). (2019). *Measuring up: Canadian Results of the OECD PISA 2018 Study*. Toronto: CMEC.

Crawley, Mike. (2018a). "No sign minimum wage hike was 'job killer' Doug Ford says it was." *CBC News* (October 25).

Crawley, Mike. (2018b). "How Doug Ford's pledge of 'zero income tax' leaves minimum wage workers worse off." *CBC News* (April 18).

Deller, Fiona, Kaufman, Amy & Tamburri, Rosanna. (2019). *Redefining Access to Postsecondary Education*. Toronto: Higher Education Quality Council of Ontario.

Economic and Social Development Canada. (2015). *Canadian Occupational Projection System*. Ottawa: Government of Canada.

Ferdosi, Mohammad, Tom McDowell, Wayne Lewchuk, and Stephanie Ross. (2020). *Southern Ontario's Basic Income Experience*. Hamilton: Hamilton Roundtable for Poverty Reduction, McMaster University, and Hamilton Community Foundation.

Ferguson, H. Bruce, Sarah Bovaird, and MP Mueller. (2007). *Paediatrics & Child Health* 12, no. 8: 701-706.

Ferguson, Rob, and Laurie Monsebraaten. (2018). "Ontario government scraps basic income project, limits welfare increases to 1.5 per cent." *Toronto Star* (July 31).

Financial Accountability Office (FAO). (2019a). *Child Care in Ontario: A Review of Ontario's New Child Care Tax Credit and Implications for Ontario's Labour Force*. Toronto: FAO.

FAO. (2019b). Expenditure Estimates 2019-20: Ministry of Education. Toronto: FAO.

Fine, Sean. (2015a). "Supreme Court backs Mounties' right to unionize." *Globe and Mail* (January 16).

Fine, Sean. (2015b). "Canadian workers have fundamental right to strike, top court rules." *Globe and Mail* (January 30).

Fortin, Nicole, David Green, Thomas Lemieux, Kevin Milligan, and W. Craig Riddell. (2012). "Canadian Inequality: Recent Developments and Policy Options." *Canadian Public Policy* 38, no. 2: 121-145.

Fortin, Pierre. (2018). "Quebec's Childcare Program at 20." Inroads 42.

Frenette, Marc. (2019). *Are the Career Prospects of Postsecondary Graduates Improving?* Ottawa: Statistics Canada.

Frenette, Marc. (2017). *Postsecondary Enrolment by Parental Income: Recent National and Provincial Trends*. Ottawa: Statistics Canada.

Frenette, Marc. (2007). *Why Are Youth from Lower-income Families Less Likely to Attend University? Evidence from Academic Abilities, Parental Influences and Financial Constraints*. Ottawa: Statistics Canada.

Gellatly, Mary. (2015). *Still Working on the Edge: Building Decent Jobs from the Ground Up*. Toronto: Workers' Action Centre.

Halfon, Shani, and Rachel Langford. (2015). "Developing and Supporting a High Quality Child Care Workforce in Canada: What are the barriers to change?" *Our Schools/Our Selves* 24, no. 4: 131-144.

Hennessy, Trish, and Ricardo Tranjan. (2018). *No Safe Harbour: Precarious Work and Economic Insecurity Among Skilled Professionals in Canada*. Toronto: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives – Ontario.

Herrera, Juan Manuel. (2018). "Minimum Wage in Ontario: Impact on Jobs?" *Scotiabank Global Economics: Insights & Views* (February 16).

Himelfarb, Alex, and Trish Hennessy (Eds.). (2016). *Basic Income: Rethinking Social Policy*. Toronto: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives – Ontario.

Income Security Advocacy Centre (ISAC). (2018). *Open Letter to Minister MacLeod: Five Principles for the 100-day Review*. Toronto: ISAC.

Ingram, Chad. (2018). "Residents decry end of basic income pilot project." *Minden Times* (September 27).

Interfaith Social Assistance Reform Commission (ISARC). (2018). *ISARC Statement on Social Assistance*. Toronto: ISARC.

Jaumotte, Florence, and Carolina Osoria Buitron. (2015). "Power from the People." *Finance & Development* 52, no. 1: 29-31.

Lankin, Frances, and Munir A. Sheikh. (2012). *Brighter Prospects: Transforming Social Assistance in Ontario*. Toronto: Government of Ontario.

Lee, Ceclia R., and Alexa Briggs. (2019). *The Cost of Poverty in Ontario: 10 Years Later*. Toronto: Feed Ontario.

Lewchuk, Wayne, Michelynn Laflèche, Stephanie Procyk, Charlene Cook, Diane Dyson, Luin Goldring, Karen Lior, Alan Meisner, John Shields, Anthony Tambureno, and Peter Viducis. *The Precarity Penalty: The impact of employment precarity on individuals, households and communities – and what to do about it*. Hamilton and Toronto: Poverty and Employment Precarity in Southern Ontario (PEPSO), McMaster University, and United Way Toronto.

Macdonald, David. (2017). *Who Benefits from a \$15 Minimum Wage?* Toronto: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives – Ontario.

Macdonald, David, and Martha Friendly. (2017). *Time Out: Child care fees in Canada 2017*. Ottawa: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives.

Mahoney, Jill. (2018). "Child-care advocates fear next moves by Ontario government in daycare sector." *Globe and Mail* (September 16).

McCuaig, Kerry, Jane Bertrand, and Stuart Shanker. (2018). *Trends in Early Education and Child Care*. Toronto: Atkinson Centre for Society and Child Development, Ontario Institute for Studies in Education.

Ministry of Finance. (2019). 2019 Ontario Budget. Toronto: Ministry of Finance.

Monsebraaten, Laurie. (2019a). "Ford government cancels planned cuts to social assistance payments." *Toronto Star* (October 3).

Monsebraaten, Laurie. (2019b). "People struggling with disability raise fears over proposed changes to ODSP." *Toronto Star* (December 9).

Monsebraaten, Laurie. (2018a). "Worried parents and child care advocates ask 'what now?' in wake of PC win." *Toronto Star* (June 10).

Monsebraaten, Laurie. (2018b). "Cancellation of Ontario's basic income project sparks global outrage." *Toronto Star* (September 18).

Mustachi, Jessica. (2017). Ending Child & Family Poverty is Not Negotiable: Building Stronger Foundations for Ontario Families – 2017 Report on Child and Family Poverty in Ontario. Toronto: Ontario Campaign 2000.

Office of the Auditor General of Ontario. (2018). *Annual Report: 2018*. Toronto: Queen's Printer for Ontario.

Ontario English Catholic Teachers' Association (OECTA). (2020). *Pre-Budget Brief: Submission to the Standing Committee on Finance and Economic Affairs*. Toronto: OECTA.

Ontario Federation of Labour (OFL). (2017). *With amendments, Bill 148 can provide decent work for generations to come, says Ontario Federation of Labour*. Toronto: OFL.

Organisation for Economic Co-Operation and Development. (2019). *Education at a Glance: OECD Indicators, 2019*. Paris: OECD Publishing.

Osberg, Lars, Craig Riddell, Michal Rozworski, and Jim Standford. (2017). "Ontario gets it right with move to higher minimum wage." *Globe and Mail* (June 30).

Proudfoot, Shannon. (2020). "Can treating poverty change a child's brain?" *Maclean's* (January 6).

Reddekopp, Lorenda. (2018). "Ford government proposes increase in at-home unlicensed daycare spaces." *CBC News* (December 6).

Schleicher, Andreas. (2019). PISA 2018: Insights and Interpretations. Paris: OECD.

Statistics Canada. (2019). *Highest level of educational attainment (detailed) by selected age groups 25 to 64, both sexes, % distribution 2016, Canada, provinces and territories, 2016 Census – 25% Sample data*. Ottawa: Statistics Canada. Version updated February 2019.

Statistics Canada. (2020). *Table 37-10-0011-01, Postsecondary enrolments, by field of study, registration status, program type, credential type and gender*. Ottawa: Statistics Canada. Version updated March 2020.

Tiessen, Kaylie. (2016). *Ontario's Social Assistance Poverty Gap*. Toronto: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives – Ontario.

Zon, Noah, and Thomas Granofsky. (2019). *Resetting Social Assistance Reform*. Toronto: Ontario 360 Project.

Zussman, Richard. (2016). "BCTF wins Supreme Court battle over class size and composition." *CBC News* (November 10).